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 AGENDA ITEM NO.:  2 
 
 WARD:  1 
 
 CULTURAL HERITAGE BOARD HEARING DATE:  OCTOBER 21, 2015  
 
I. CASE NUMBER:  P15-0679 

 
II. PROJECT SUMMARY: 
 

1) Proposal: Historic Designation request to designate 4135 Market Street as a 
City Structure of Merit 

 

2) Location: 4135 Market Street  
 

3) Applicant: Michael Ennabe, of Ennabe Properties Inc. 
      
4) Case Planner: Erin Gettis, Historic Preservation Officer 

    (951) 826-5371 
    egettis@riversideca.gov 
 

III.   RECOMMENDATION:        
 

 That the Cultural Heritage Board recommend that the City Council: 
 

1. DETERMINE that P15-0679, City Structure of Merit Designation, is categorically exempt 
from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) per Sections 15061(b)(3) and 15308 
of the CEQA Guidelines as it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that the 
activity will have a significant effect on the environment, said action is intended to preserve 
the historic character of the building and site, and to provide notice of the historic status; and, 

 
2. APPROVE Planning Case P15-0679 based on the facts for findings outlined below and 

thereby the designation of 4135 Market Street as a City Structure of Merit. 
 

FACTS FOR FINDINGS: (From Sections 20.20.030 and 20.50.010(FF) of the Riverside 
Municipal Code) 
 
FINDINGS: Criterion 2:  Is an example of a type of building which was once common but is 

now rare in its neighborhood, community or area. 
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FACTS: 4135 Market Street meets Criterion 2 as a Structure of Merit because it 

contributes to the broader understanding of the historical, architectural and 
community heritage of the City, retains sufficient integrity, and is an extant auto-
related building from the 1930s that still reflects the integration of the automobile 
in Mile Square commercial design and is a representative example of an auto-
related building that reflects both Art Deco architecture and the small-scale 
property type that would have been compatible with the adjacent residential 
neighborhood to the northwest.  

 
IV.    BACKGROUND/HISTORY: 
 
 In 2013, the former property owner submitted a Certificate of Appropriateness (P13-0465) for 

the restoration of the 2,116 square foot historic former tire store, demolition of a 1,265 square 
foot non-contributing building, and a 554 square foot addition to a 2,640 square foot non-
contributing building. The intent of the project was to adaptively re-use the subject site for retail 
and restaurant uses. The project was approved because it was consistent with the Secretary of the 
Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Buildings with Guidelines for Rehabilitation 
since it would restore the main historic building, included appropriately designed addition to the 
other building, and included only minor modifications to the rest of the site.  

 
In accordance with the Downtown Specific Plan (DSP) Section 16.2.4, Parking Requirements, 
Exemptions, only designated historic sites or contributors are exempt from providing additional 
parking spaces required under the DSP for adaptive re-use projects except for expanded portions 
of existing structures. Due to the removal of some square footage, and only a small addition 
proposed, the project resulted in a net decrease in square footage on the site. The project was 
approved with a total of 20 parking spaces. However, the restaurant and retail project could have 
been required to provide up to 35 parking spaces at the time tenant improvement plans are 
submitted if the site is all leased as restaurant space. In order for the project to take advantage of 
the DSP exemption from parking and not have to provide up to 15 additional spaces, the property 
owner agreed to designate the site which was required through a condition of approval. The 
property has since changed hands, but the new owner desires to proceed with the project as 
entitled and has submitted the Structure of Merit designation application in accordance with the 
project’s condition of approval.  

 
 What is often referred to as the former Winston Tire site contains an original Art Deco style 

building at the far left of the site arranged perpendicular to Market Street. It was constructed in 
1936. An original building in 1934 was noted as a service station for General Petroleum on the 
building permit; according to contemporary newspaper articles, this building was “all steel.” 
Then in 1936, a “brick” building was added to the service station according to building permit 
records. The 1934 steel building was later removed when the rear, non-historic tire service 
building was added to the site in 1961. The brick building extant today is referred to as the 
“original” building throughout the rest of this report. 

 
The original building was found to be a major contributor to the historic streetscape in a 1992 
survey, and continuing to add to the streetscape in the 2003 “Downtown Specific Plan and West 
Side Update/Reconnaissance Survey.” A draft Auto Context survey begun in 2010 found that the 
building is eligible for local designation. A survey update prepared at the time the project P13-
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0465 was processed confirmed the finding that the site is eligible for designation as a City 
Structure of Merit.  
 

V. ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION: 
 

The original Art Deco building is a single-story, masonry showroom and service building that is 
approximately 2,116 square feet in area. It is distinguished by decorative masonry trim work. 
The raised parapet is divided from the main wall by a heavy belt course, and a cornice molding 
graces the top edge of the parapet. At each corner and dividing the side bays are brick pilasters 
with a recessed, center vertical panel. Each pilaster carries a continuation of the belt course and 
cornice molding. The front façade has three large, recessed display windows with triple-pane 
transoms. The north façade contains three bays containing entries to a showroom/storeroom, an 
office, and a large service bay. These bays are divided by four pilasters. The first bay has an 
aluminum storefront and boarded-up door beneath a transom. The next bay has a glazed panel 
wood door and small boarded-up window beneath a transom. The third bay has a metal roll-up 
service bay door and integral man-door. At the rear is a shed roofed addition containing 
restrooms. The primary character-defining features of the building include the parapet roof; brick 
construction material that has been painted; fixed pane windows above raised bulkheads with 
tripartite transoms; and decorative brick work at the columns, belt course and cornice moldings. 

 
The 1961 building located along the rear of the site is approximately 2,640 square feet, built for 
US Royal Tires. It does not contribute historically to the site (although the fact that is sits along 
the rear of the site with a large asphalt area in front of it is part of the character of development 
of the original service station site). The lefthand portion of this building is an approximately 
1,265 square foot addition that was constructed in 1981 when the site was owned by Winston 
Tire Company, and is also not a contributing building.  
 
The site layout has been similar since 1936 according to Sanborn Fire Insurance maps, with 
buildings generally in an L shape down the left side and across the rear property lines and 
service/parking in front. There have been various parking space layouts on the site over the 
years, with 18 spaces as of 1981. In 1961, there were two driveway openings to the site on 
Market Street, as well as two on Eleventh Street which were closed off in 1981. A limited 
amount of landscaping has existed on the site over the years and none of the existing landscape is 
historic. The planters extant today have been present since 1981. The existing site parking lot 
and landscaping are not in good condition.  

 
VI. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE: 
 

According to the attached DPR evaluation form prepared for the site in 2013, the site derives its 
significance as an auto-related site in the decade before World War II as follows: 
 

Amid the post-WWI population-driven demand for housing in the second decade of the 
20th century, Riverside’s economic landscape was also changing. Vacant lots, 
particularly along the arterials in the downtown core, were eyed for commercial 
development. This geographic concentration of commercial enterprise in Riverside was 
linear as it was associated with major arterials or highways and generally focused first on 
the streetcar, and later motoring, patron, in addition to the neighborhood pedestrian. 
Eventually, use shifted to mainly auto- or travel-related uses like auto courts, motels, 
service stations or related auto services, and roadside eateries. At first, the automobile 
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was assimilated into the whole structure without much change in the exterior design or 
scale. Extant auto-related buildings from the 1920s and 1930s still reflect the integration 
of the automobile in Mile Square commercial design near and along Market Street where 
the majority of auto-related commercial activity was headquartered. With the emergence 
of “streetcar suburbs” and other outlying developments, this method of incorporating 
commercial buildings into, or adjacent to, neighborhoods had become common 
throughout the country as residents pushed for small-scale, compatible construction even 
for buildings that accommodated automobiles. In accommodating automobile-related 
uses, local builders chose to make subtle changes within leading architectural forms and 
styles, which persisted through the 1930s. The design intent, which was heavily 
influenced by the Art Deco style within the Modernistic styles popular from roughly 
1920 to 1940, is apparent in this building’s façade. The site’s setting and feeling has 
changed since the 1934 steel structure that would have reflected the original service 
station use of the site is no longer extant. However, the site is still a representative 
example of an auto-related building that reflects both Art Deco architecture and the 
small-scale property type that would have been compatible with the adjacent residential 
neighborhood to the northwest.  
 

The site is eligible for local listing as a Structure of Merit because it contributes to the broader 
understanding of the historical, architectural and community heritage of the City, retains 
sufficient integrity, and is an example of a type of building which was once common but is now 
rare in the community. The status code that represents the site’s eligibility for designation has 
been assigned in the DPR evaluation form: 5S2, individual property that is eligible for local 
listing or designation. It is not eligible for listing in the National Register or California Register 
because the quality of significance in American or state history, architecture, archeology, 
engineering, and culture at a national level is not present. The property does not retain enough 
integrity to be listed as a City Landmark since the other original companion building from 1934 
was removed, but it does retain sufficient integrity for designation as a Structure of Merit. 
 
Based on the evaluation, 4135 Market Street appears to be eligible for local listing as a City 
Structure of Merit under one designation criterion in Section 20.50.010(FF) of the Municipal 
Code as described in the facts for findings above. A detailed statement of significance and 
additional information are provided in the attached Designation Application and DPR evaluation 
form (Exhibits 3 and 4). 
 

VII. PUBLIC NOTICE AND COMMENTS: 
 

Public notices were published in one newspaper of general circulation within the City, and 
mailed to property owners and occupants within 300 feet of the site, at least ten (10) days prior 
to the scheduled hearing. No responses were received to date. 

 
VIII. EXHIBITS: 
 

1. Location / Zoning Map 
2.  Aerial Photograph 
3. Designation Application with Photographs 
4. Cultural Resources DPR Evaluation Form 
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